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INTRODUCTION
This report describes the results of an archaeological desk assessment and field evaluation of the site of the proposed redevelopment of 22-26 East Abbey Street, Abroath, Angus. This work was commissioned by CMD Architectural Services on behalf of their client, Bellrock Developments, as part of a planning submission to Angus Council for the erection of several new dwellings on the site. The desk study was undertaken by John Terry and the evaluation by John Lewis.

THE DESK ASSESSMENT
The principal sources consulted for the assessment were the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland (RCAHMS), the Map Room of the National Library of Scotland and the Scottish Burgh Survey (Simpson & Stevenson 1982).

Historical background
The Tironensian Abbey of Arbroath, a daughter house of Kelso Abbey, was founded by William the Lion in 1178 although it is thought likely that small farming and fishing communities had been founded around this area some time before that, perhaps as early as the 9th century (Perry 1998, 264; Nicolaison 1976, 164; Watson 1926, 449). Arbroath was granted burgh status soon after the abbey’s foundation although it did not become a royal burgh until 1599 (Pryde 1965, 52). It is now a Scheduled Ancient Monument.
The burgh was located to the immediate S and SW of the abbey, the High Street running alongside the W wall of its precinct. Although little of that wall now survives above ground, it was still very much in evidence in the 18th century and the extent of the abbey precinct is essentially known. Following the abbey’s dissolution, much of its former precinct was developed for housing. John Wesley, visiting Arbroath in 1770, recorded that ‘..two entire new streets and part of a third have been built in these two years. They run parallel with each other, and have a row of gardens between them..’, the first two being East and West Abbey Streets (Hay 1876, 343). These streets were laid out in the feuing which followed the Crown’s granting of the abbey precinct to the Town Council around 1754.
The archaeological background
Over the past few decades, there have been a number of small-scale excavations and archaeological watching briefs within the historic core of Arbroath (Perry 1998, 272-6). Only those undertaken within the abbey’s former precinct are described here in the following list.
SITES AND MONUMENTS
The sites and monuments listed here are those catalogued by RCAHMS and located within the abbey’s medieval precinct.

NO 64 SW 18 Arbroath Abbey
The Tironensian abbey, whose remains are centred on NO 6431 4133, was founded in 1178 by William the Lion.

In 1963 a medieval midden was found outside the W end of the abbey (at NO 6424 4133) during the demolition of some 17th-century buildings (Simpson & Stevenson 1982, 19).
NO 64 SW 27 Urban excavation
An excavation, undertaken in 1982 at 189-191 High Street (at NO 6435 4108), revealed that medieval cultivation had disturbed a probable prehistoric inhumation (Pollock 1998, 279).
NO 64 SW 162 Abbey Parish Church
Listed building at NO 6434 4121. RCAHMS records comprise only photographs.
NO 64 SW 137 Abbey Parish Church: trial excavation
Excavation in 1996 at NO 6435 4119 revealed that the site had been severely disturbed by the insertion of cellars in recent times (Perry 1998, 275).

NO 64 SW 127 11 East Abbey Street: watching brief
An archaeological watching brief undertaken in 1994 to the rear of 11 East Abbey Street (at NO 6448 4110) revealed 0.6m of cultivation soil below modern deposits (Perry 1998, 276).
NO 64 SW 34 4-14 Academy Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings at NO 6445 4105.

NO 64 SW 36 2-10 Stanley Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings at NO 6446 4127.

NO 64 SW 37 15-50 East Abbey Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings centred on NO 644 411.

NO 64 SW 41 1 Abbot Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of this building at NO 6446 4120.

NO 64 SW 42 2-6 Abbot Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings at NO 6446 4121.

NO 64 SW 43 17-25 West Abbey Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings at NO 6440 4109.

NO 64 SW 44 29-31 West Abbey Street
RCAHMS records comprise only photographs of these buildings at NO 6438 4112.

NO 64 SW 115 22-26 East Abbey Street: drill hall
RCAHMS records consist of three photographs (C 67864-6) of this former building which once stood on the site of this development at NO 6446 4108.
THE SITE
The site is located on the W side of East Abbey Street and is centred on NGR: NO 6442 4111, some 150m S of the abbey’s S claustral range and well within the former monastic precinct. From the 18th century this area became urbanised (see above). Wood’s map of 1822 shows several houses on the W side of East Abbey Street, including what became numbers 22-26. By the time of the first edition 25-inch Ordnance Survey (OS) map of 1859 development of the street had increased and the rear of 22-26 evidently contained gardens.

According to the second edition OS map, by 1888 these houses had been replaced by a drill hall which was later converted into a bakery and then a garage. The latter was demolished to make way for the current development of nine apartments. The frontage and some other walls of the garage have been retained although most of the building has been removed, along with some of its reinforced concrete floor. However, much of the flooring has been retained as a solid base for an access road and car parking area. The front part of the site, roughly corresponding with the original houses (22-26), is to be remodelled into new residential units. The remaining units are to be built to their rear, part of this area being the subject of the archaeological evaluation.
THE FIELD EVALUATION
The entire development covers an area of some 715m2 although the archaeological record was threatened only in its SW part which measured approximately 140m2. The planning condition relating to the site’s archaeology specified that at least 10% of the development area should be trenched. In fact, a total of some 26m2 (18.5%) was excavated.

Trenching was undertaken using a toothless bucket attached to a small mechanical excavator supplied by the client. Remnants of demolition rubble and the underlying topsoil were removed by machine and the trenches cleaned and investigated by hand thereafter. Each of the four trenches measured 1m wide and some 0.5-0.7m deep.

Trench 1
Trench 1, located in the SW corner of the site, measured 4m N/S. Below a thin layer of rubble was 0.5-0.6m of dark, humic loam which gave directly onto undulating beach sands.

Running across the N end of the trench were the lower courses of a stone and brick wall, assumed to be the original S wall of the drill hall. At the S end of the trench were the remnants of a brick wall, probably the S wall of the hall’s extension which was built between 1888 and the publication of the third edition OS map of 1923.

Trench 2
This long trench, measuring 11m E/W, ran eastwards from the near the N end of Trench 1. The topsoil was up to 0.5m deep and lay directly on beach sands over most of the trench, the exception being at its E end where there was an extensive deposit of loose rubble. Within the rubble were several large sherds of 19th-century ceramics, including rim fragments of wavy blue, shell-edged pearlware dated to 1810-35.
Trench 3
Measuring 4.5m N/S, Trench 3 ran northwards, 2.5m from the W end of Trench 2. Midway along the trench, below 0.5m of topsoil, was a post-pit measuring 0.23m in diameter and 0.32m deep. Its fill of dark brown topsoil was very loose, suggesting that the pit was a relatively modern feature, perhaps associated with one of the flour silos, which date from the site’s use as a bakery, whose concrete bases sat either side of this trench.
Trench 4
Trench 4 ran northwards from the E end of Trench 2, its course being dog-legged because of the concrete base of a flour silo that was exposed in the E side of the trench. No other feature was uncovered in this trench, only 0.5m of topsoil lying directly over undisturbed beach sand.

Finds
The only finds retrieved during this excavation dated from the 19th and 20th centuries. None was retained.

CONCLUSIONS
The only feature of possible archaeological significance uncovered was the post-pit in Trench 3 although this is thought to be of recent origin. Similarly, no artefacts predating the 19th century were retrieved from the site.

The depth of rich, humic topsoil was identical to that uncovered during investigations at 11 East Abbey Street and 189-191 High Street, recalling the findings of Mudie who, writing in 1742, described the soil there as ‘..a brown clay of great depth, covered in most places with a black mixed earth..’ (Miller 1860, 42). In all likelihood, this part of what would have been the outer monastic court, was given over to gardens or orchards.
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LIST OF SITE PHOTOGRAPHS
1
Trench 1, viewed from the N.
2
Trench 1, viewed from the S.

3
Trench 2, viewed from the W. (Included in report)
4
Trench 3, viewed from the S. (Included in report)
5
Trench 4, viewed from the W.

6
Post-pit in Trench 3 half-section, viewed from the S.

7
Post-pit in Trench 3 fully excavated, viewed from the S.

8
SE corner of development area, viewed from the NW.
9
The entrance to the site, viewed from the W.

10
The SW corner of the development area, including the main area of trenching, viewed 
from the NE. (Included in report)
11
The NW corner of the development area, viewed from the SE.
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